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The Tennessee General Assembly established Cheatham County on May 15, 1856 and named 
it in honor of Speaker of the Senate Edward S. Cheatham. The county court convened 
at various locations until a permanent structure was built. That body appropriated 
$12,000 for a courthouse which was erected on a 300* x 600' lot in the center of 
Ashland (later Ashland City) in 1869.

The present Cheatham County Courthouse is actually two buildings in one, each 
representative of a different time period and architectural style. The overall 
plan is a T, with the 1869 section forming the vertical bar and the 1914 addition 
the horizontal.

The 1869 courthouse, a Greek Revival-Italianfcte, two story, brick building, has a 
rectangular (42* x 48') plan* The main facade faced southwest and contained two 
windows and an entrance in the first story and three windows in the second; this 
pattern was duplicated in the other three elevations. The brick walls were laid 
in common bond and built on a cut and hammer-finished, coursed limestone foundation 
and water table. The medium gable roof is surmounted with four, single chimney stacks 
located at the corners. The original roof was replaced, probably in the early 
1900s, with a standing seam, metal roof. The boxed pediment is decorated with dentils 
and has an ornate vent. Dentils and sets of paired brackets highlight the boxed 
cornice. The windows flanking the entrances have semicircular openings; brick, 
radiating arch voussiours; and plain, limestone sills. Double, four-over-four windows 
are located over each entrance; all other windows have six-over-six lights. The second- 
story windows are elongated to accomodate the high courtroom ceilings. The original 
entrances were comprised of double-leaf, paneled doors and semicircular transoms with 
quarter-round lights, but these have been drastically altered.

The first-floor interior was designed with a central hall and a large staircase 
which lec| to the second-floor courtroom; a second hall crossed the first at the center 
of the building. Except for two small conference rooms located on either side of 
the staircase, the courtroom occupied the entire second floor. The bench and witness 
box were arranged at the southwestern end of the room and the jury box placed to the 
left of the bench. Spectator seats were arranged in three groups separated by two 
aisles. Large wood-burning stoves, placed in each corner, heated the courtroom.

By the first decade of the twentieth century, the county government had outgrown 
the courthouse. The county court floated a $25,000 bond issue to renovate the 
existing building and to construct a large addition to the southwest side of the 
courthouse.

The two-story brick, Colonial Revival addition is rectangular in plan and was designed 
by architect Robert E. Turbeville. The foundation consists of rusticated limestone 
and has a dressed stone water table and pilaster bases. Laid in stretcher bond, the 
walls of the main facade are divided into three bays by brick pilasters accented 
with capitals and bases. The focal point of the building is the pedimented portico 
with outsized dentils and severely truncated Ionic columns, together with the deeply 
recessed entrance. (A matching, open, second-story porch, centered over the entrance,
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was enclosed in 1946 /to provide additional office space.) Three unusual hipped 
gables, topped with spherical finials and centered on the southwest side, adorn 
the composition shingle-clad, low hip roof. Plain chimneys are mounted on both 
ends of the roof. A boxed cornice, which features large, widely spaced dentils, 
nearly girds this section of the building.

The lower windows on the main facade have one-over-one, rectangular, doubled sashes 
and stone lintels with keystones; the adjacent elevations each contain a single 
window and vault opening. A stone belt course, positioned at the same level as 
the sills, gives the appearance of a continuous sill configuration; this sill treat­ 
ment is repeated on the second story. The upper, one-over-one windows are surmounted 
with transoms and a dentilated, continuous stone lintel. The keystone lintels are 
repeated over the double entrances, and each of the double-leaf doors has large, 
beveled glass panels.

The 1914 section provided four additional offices, two vaults, and a double staircase 
and vestibule. The original staircase was removed and the placement of the courtroom 
furnishings was reversed—the bench is now positioned in the northeastern end of the 
room and the entrance was moved to the opposite end. In 1941 and 1970, respectively, 
the northwest and southeast halls were enclosed to afford additional office space.

Restroom facilities were added to the northeast wall of the 1869 section in 1937. This 
small, brick addition has a hip roof which is curiously positioned so that overhang 
partially covers the northeast entrance.

An unusual feature of the tree-shaded and landscaped court square is the permanent, 
lighted croquet court. The courthouse grounds are the scene of the traditional 
checker tournaments as well as spirited croquet matches.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Three attempts were required to organize Cheatham County. The state legislature 
authorized the erection of Cumberland County—so called because the Cumberland River 
approximately bisects the county—in the 1830s and again in the 1840s, but both 
attempts failed. (Cumberland County in East Tennessee was organized in 1855.) In 
1856 the new name Cheatham was selected, and the county was finally formed.

The Cheatham County Courthouse is the only significant public building in this pre­ 
dominantly rural, agricultural county and the most architecturally and historically 
important edifice in Ashland City. One of the few remaining courthouses built 
during the troubled years immediately following the Civil War, the 1869 section of 
the present building is one of the oldest courthouses in the state.

The 1869 courthouse, noted for its graceful, classical simplicity, adequately served 
the administrative and judicial needs of the county for more than fifty years. 
Nashville architect Robert E. Turbeville designed an addition to the courthouse in 
the popular Colonial Revival style in 1914, and the earlier structure was retained 
intact as an ell for the modern building.

The courthouse as a social institution is a rapidly vanishing tradition in all but 
the rural Tennessee counties. The Cheatham County Courthouse remains the county 
meeting place where news and gossip are disseminated and the ubiquitous checker 
games are played. An unusual feature of this courthouse is that a concrete croquet 
court has been built on the lawn, and regularly scheduled matches, which attract 
large crowds, are held under the lights on summer evenings.

The present courthouse is the only one that the majority of the citizens can recall. 
It has been and will continue to be a landmark in the county and a source of community 
pride. Plans are currently being considered by the county court to restore the 
building to its 1914 appearance.
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